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contained the provision in dispute) . . . and all documents 
comprising the administrative record and/or supporting Na-
tionwide’s decision.” Nearly seven months later, the adminis-
trator provided the policy that covered the claim.

Eventually, the plaintiff sued under the Employee Retire-
ment Income Security Act. The district court dismissed her 
claims, finding the plan correctly interpreted the restrictive 
provision, but it awarded the plaintiff a statutory penalty of 
$55 per day because the plan failed to provide her with docu-
ments in response to her attorney’s request.

The plan appealed, arguing that the plaintiff ’s request was 
vague and, in order to impose a penalty, the plaintiff should 
have provided “clear notice” that she sought the policy in her 
original document request. The Sixth Circuit agreed and ap-
plied the “clear notice” standard prospectively (thus requir-
ing claimants to set forth with specificity what documents 
they are requesting from the plan administrator). However, 
in this case, the court found that the district court was within 
its discretion in awarding the civil penalty.

The plaintiff ’s counsel, true enough, broadly phrased the 
request as one for “all documents comprising the adminis-
trative record and/or supporting Nationwide’s decision.” Al-
though such language would not pass the clear-notice test for 
most of the documents identified in 29 U.S.C. §1024(b)(4), 
one is hard-pressed to believe that the administrator should 
not have known that the accidental death policy was the key 
document supporting its decision to deny the plaintiff ’s claim.

The court also found that since the failure to provide the 
documents did not result in any prejudice to plaintiff, the 
court was within its discretion to limit the civil penalty to 
$55 per day (rather than the maximum of $110 per day).

FMLA Notices Untimely, But No Harm Done

Bellone v. Southwick-Tolland Regional School District, 748 
F.3d 418 (1st Cir. 2014). Late and inadequate notices are not 
sufficient to bring an FMLA claim where the petitioner could not 
have returned to work even if properly notified.

The First Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed summary 
judgment in favor of a school district, holding that a teacher 
did not have a good claim under the Family and Medical 
Leave Act (FMLA) against the district, which had provided 

late and inadequate designation and eligibility notices under 
FMLA, where the teacher could not have returned to work 
even had he been properly notified.

On March 4, 2010, Scott Bellone, a fourth-grade teacher, 
told the school district he needed to take a two-week medical 
leave of absence, providing a note from his physician stating 
that he would be unable to work during that time period. At 
the end of the two weeks, March 23, 2010, Bellone provided 
a second note from his physician that stated he would be un-
able to work until April 15. On March 24, 2010, the school 
sent an FMLA eligibility notice to Bellone, requiring him to 
fill it out and return it with a certification within 15 days. 
Bellone’s physician submitted the completed form on April 
10, 2010, indicating that Bellone was unable to perform his 
job functions for an uncertain amount of time. On July 9, 
2010, the school sent Bellone an FMLA designation notice, 
which stated that he had been approved for FMLA 12-week 
leave, that the district had designated that 12 weeks to the 
time period from March 4 until June 4 and that he had there-
fore used up his FMLA entitlement. The district informed 
Bellone that it was requiring Bellone’s physician to provide 
it with a medical opinion about whether Bellone could re-
turn to work for the upcoming school year. On August 30, 
2010, the district received a medical opinion from Bellone’s 
psychologist stating that he saw no psychological reason why 
Bellone could not return to work. The school district then 
notified Bellone that he was expected to return to work on 
September 22, 2010. He never showed up for work.

Bellone filed a lawsuit in June 2012 alleging that the district 
interfered with his FMLA rights by failing to provide proper 
and timely FMLA eligibility and designation notices. The dis-
trict filed a motion to dismiss Bellone’s complaint. The district 
court converted the motion into a motion for summary judg-
ment. Bellone filed a cross-motion for summary judgment. 
The district court granted summary judgment in favor of the 
school district. The court held that while the eligibility and 
designation notices were untimely, Bellone had failed to dem-
onstrate that he was harmed from the lack of notice.

Under FMLA, eligible employees are guaranteed 12 weeks 
of unpaid leave in a 12-month period. Once the employer 
knows that an employee’s leave may be covered under FMLA, 
the employer must notify the employee within five business 
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days. Once the employer receives certification that the leave is 
being taken for a reason(s) covered under FMLA, the employer 
must notify the employee within five business days whether the 
leave will be designated and counted as FMLA leave. However, 
the court pointed out that untimely or inadequate notices to the 
employee are not actionable unless they harm the employee.

The district court concluded that both forms of notice 
were untimely. The district court further held, however, that 
Bellone had put forward no evidence supporting his claim 
that he was harmed by the untimely notice because he could 
have restructured his leave in order to preserve some of his 
FMLA entitlement had the school district provided timely 
notice. The appellate court affirmed the decision of the dis-
trict court, stating that the school district met its burden by 
showing that, based on medical communications with Bel-
lone’s physician, Bellone medically could not have returned 
to work within that 12-week time frame, allowing him to 
structure his leave differently. After the school district had 
met its burden, Bellone presented no evidence to contradict 
the medical evidence of his physician.

Retaliation Protection Under ERISA

Sexton v. Panel Processing, Inc., 2014 WL 1856692 (6th Cir. 
2014). One unsolicited e-mail complaining of an alleged ERISA 
violation did not qualify sender to receive retaliation protection 
under ERISA.

The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed summary 
judgment in favor of employer Panel Processing, holding 
that a one-time unsolicited e-mail that complained of an al-
leged violation of the Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act (ERISA) did not constitute providing information or tes-
timony in an ERISA inquiry or proceeding, which it found 
is required in order to receive protection from retaliation 
under §510 of ERISA. The court reasoned that the one-time 
unsolicited e-mail was not sufficient because ERISA does 
not contain a provision protecting employees who complain 
about or oppose an unlawful practice.

Brian Sexton, an employee of Panel Processing, filed a state 
court action alleging that the company violated the state Whis-
tleblower Protection Act and breached his employment con-
tract. The company recharacterized the state Whistleblower 

Protection Act claim as an ERISA claim and removed the suit 
to federal court. The district court granted summary judgment 
to the company on the ERISA claim and declined to exercise 
supplemental jurisdiction over the breach-of-contract claim.

On appeal, Sexton argued that under ERISA he was un-
lawfully fired for the unsolicited e-mail he sent to the board 
chairman complaining of an alleged ERISA violation. ERISA 
provision 29 U.S.C. §1140 makes it unlawful to fire, among 
other actions, a person because he has given information, 
testified or is about to testify in any inquiry or proceeding re-
lating to ERISA. The court held that the only possible scenar-
io that could apply here would be if Sexton sent the e-mail in 
order to give information in any inquiry. However, the court 
found that no inquiry existed. Rather, it found that the e-mail 
was nothing more than a complaint accompanied by a threat 
to take action if the company did not change its ways.

The court distinguished ERISA provision §510 from other 
laws that contain a clause protecting people who oppose, re-
port or complain about unlawful practices, noting that this 
law includes a provision that protects only people who give 
information or testify in inquiries or proceedings.

In a dissenting opinion, Circuit Judge Helene N. White 
pointed out that the question of whether §510 protects un-
solicited employee complaints has split the circuits, with the 
Fifth, Seventh and Ninth Circuits interpreting §510 to pro-
tect an employee’s unsolicited internal complaint, “while the 
Second, Third and Fourth have interpreted §510 as protecting 
employees only when the employer initiates the inquiry.” She 
disagreed with the majority’s interpretations of §510 and those 
cases, opining that a complaint may, depending on the circum-
stance, be an inquiry. She further pointed out that Sexton’s e-
mail had asserted that the company had violated ERISA, had 
inquired as to whether the company would take action and 
had stated that Sexton would take action if the company re-
fused to do so. Thus, she said, Sexton’s e-mail, taken in con-
text, was indeed an inquiry as urged by the secretary of labor. 
Further, ERISA §510 is susceptible to different interpretations, 
only one of which is that the information must be given at the 
employer’s request.

Editor’s note: The editor wishes to thank Murphy, Hesse, 
Toomey and Lehane, LLP, law clerk Kathleen Brekka, who 
wrote the summaries of most of these cases.   




